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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MATTHEW STEINER, individually,
and on behalf of all others similarly
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Plaintiffs,
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SONOS, INC., and DOES 1-10,
inclusive,

Defendant.
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TO THE CLERK OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant Sonos, Inc. (“Sonos™) hereby removes
to this Court the state action Steiner v. Sonos, Inc., Case No. 19STCV21795 currently
pending in Superior Court, County of Los Angeles, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1331,
1332(d)(2), 1367, 1441, 1446, and 1453. In support thereof, Sonos states as follows:

BACKGROUND

1. On May 30, 2019, Plaintiff Matthew Steiner (“Plaintiff” or “Steiner”) filed

a putative class action in this Court against Sonos, captioned Steiner v. Sonos, Inc., Case

No. 2:19-cv-04719 (“Steiner 1”). Steiner | alleged that Sonos intentionally caused
thousands of its CR100 controllers to fail by implementing a software update on those
controllers in 2018. Plaintiff brought Steiner | on behalf of a putative class defined as
“[a]ll consumers who purchased, or otherwise own, a Sonos CR100 Controller.” Steiner
I, Dkt. 1 1 29; see also Request for Judicial Notice Ex. A (Steiner | Complaint). Steiner
| asserted six causes of action against Sonos: (1) violation of the Unfair Business
Practices Act, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 88 17200 et seq.; (2) violation of California
Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code 88 1750 et seq.; (3) violation of the
Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (“CFAA”), 18 U.S.C. § 1030, et seq.; (4) violation of
the California Computer Crime Law, Cal. Penal Code § 502; (5) trespass to chattels; and
(6) conversion. Steiner I, Dkt. 1.

2. In the Steiner | complaint, Plaintiff alleged that this Court “has subject
matter jurisdiction over this action under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005, 28
U.S.C. § 1332(d), because (a) at least one member of the Class is a citizen of a state
different from Sonos, (b) the amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of
interest and costs, (c) the Class includes more than 100 members, and (d) none of the

exceptions under the subsection apply to this action.” Steiner I, Dkt. 1 | 4.
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3. On June 5, 2019, Steiner | was assigned to District Court Judge Percy
Anderson. Steiner I, Dkt. 7. Later that same day, Plaintiff dismissed Steiner | without
prejudice. Id. Dkt. 10.

4, On June 21, 2019, Plaintiff filed this putative class action in Los Angeles
Superior Court, Steiner v. Sonos, Inc., Case No. 19STCV21795 (“Steiner 11”"). Steiner Il
made substantially identical factual allegations against Sonos as Steiner I, and was
brought on behalf of an identically defined class. Specifically, both Steiner | and Steiner
Il alleged that Sonos “implement[ed] a software update [for] CR100 Controllers” that
caused the controllers to “fail,” and that Sonos did so “as a means of gaining an
advantage over its competition in the market by rendering the devices inoperable and
forcing consumers to purchase replacement devices.” Steiner I, Dkt. 1 § 1; Steiner Il
Complaint 1. In fact, the Steiner Il complaint largely copied and pasted the factual
allegations of Steiner I. Compare Steiner I, Dkt. 1 §{ 1-3, 6-11, 13-28, with Steiner II
Complaint 1 1-3, 7-28. The Steiner Il complaint asserted the same six causes of action
as Steiner I, including a claim under the federal CFAA. Steiner 11 Complaint {{ 52-116.

5. On June 25, 2019, Sonos was served with the Summons, Complaint, Civil
Case Cover Sheet, Notice of Case Assignment, and certain other court forms pertaining
to Steiner Il. Declaration of Neal Marder (“Marder Decl.”) § 3. There have been no
further proceedings in this action and no other pleadings have been filed and served
upon or by Sonos in this action. 1d.

6. This Notice of Removal is filed within thirty (30) days of the completion of
service, and is therefore timely. See 28 U.S.C. 8 1446(Db).

FEDERAL QUESTION JURISDICTION UNDER 28 U.S.C. 8 1331

7. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a), a defendant may remove to federal district

court “any civil action brought in a State court of which the district courts of the United

States have original jurisdiction.” This Court has original jurisdiction over Steiner Il
because the case “arises under the . . . laws . . . of the United States,” specifically the

Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (“CFAA”), 18 U.S.C. § 1030.
2
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8. This Court may exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the state law causes
of action alleged in Steiner Il pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). The state law claims
constitute the same “case or controversy” as the claim brought under the CFAA. In
support of his CFAA claim, Plaintiff alleges that “[b]y implementing its software, Sonos
intentionally accessed [CR100 controllers] without authorization, and as a result of that
conduct, caused or recklessly caused damage or loss to those [devices].” Steiner II, Dkt.
1 9 89. This same allegation, or similar allegations, forms the basis of Plaintiff’s state
law claims as well. See, e.g., id. 1 56 (UCL claim premised on allegation that Sonos
“forcibly modiffied] Plaintiff’s and Class members’ devices™); id. § 98 (California
Penal Code § 502 claim premised on allegation that “Sonos implemented this software
update knowingly and without permission from Plaintiff and Class members”); id.
108, 114 (trespass and conversion claims premised on allegations that Sonos wrongfully
“Interfered with” and “exercised dominion and control over” CR100 controllers).
Because all of the claims relate to the allegation that Sonos intentionally caused
thousands of CR100 controllers to fail by implementing a software update on those
controllers in 2018, the federal and state claims share a common nucleus of operative
facts.

DIVERSITY JURISDICTION UNDER THE CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT

9. In addition to this Court having jurisdiction based on the fact that this

action arises under federal law, the Court also has jurisdiction on account of diversity of
citizenship pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d).

10. Under CAFA, this Court has original jurisdiction over a putative class
action if (1) it involves 100 or more putative class members, (2) any class member is a
citizen of a state different from any defendant, and (3) the aggregated amount in
controversy exceeds $5 million (exclusive of costs and interest). See U.S.C. 8§
1332(d)(2), (d)(5), and (d)(6). These requirements are satisfied here.

11. Class Size. Without conceding that Plaintiff can certify a class of any size

or that he can properly represent the putative class, Sonos avers, for purpose of this
3
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Notice only, that the putative class size exceeds 100 class members. Plaintiff in Steiner
Il seeks to represent a class of “[a]ll consumers who purchased, or otherwise own, a
Sonos CR100 Controller.” According to Plaintiff’s allegations in both Steiner | and
Steiner 11, the putative class exceeds 100 members because the number of sales of Sonos
CR100 controllers allegedly far exceeded that number. Plaintiff alleges in both of his
complaints that “the proposed class is composed of thousands of persons.” Steiner I,
Dkt. 1 § 34; Steiner |1 Complaint § 33.

12.  Diversity of Citizenship. “[U]nder CAFA, complete diversity is not

required; ‘minimal diversity’ suffices.” Serrano v. 180 Connect, Inc., 478 F.3d 1018,
1021 (9th Cir. 2007). Minimal diversity exists if any class member is a citizen of a state
different from any defendant. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).

13.  Sonos is a citizen of Delaware and California. “[A] corporation shall be
deemed to be a citizen of every State . . . by which it has been incorporated and of the
State where it has its principal place of business.” 28 U.S.C. § 1332(c)(1). Sonos is
organized and incorporated under the state of Delaware, and has its principal place of
business in California. Steiner Il Complaint {1 5, 8; Request for Judicial Notice Ex. B.

14. At least one putative class member is a citizen of a state other than
California or Delaware. Plaintiff alleges that Sonos CR100 controllers were sold all
over the country, and are currently owned by some individuals in states other than
California and Delaware. See Steiner 11 Complaint | 1, 21 (alleging that CR100
controllers “across the country” and “throughout the United States” were affected).

15.  Accordingly, minimal diversity exists because Sonos is a citizen of
Delaware and California, and at least one class member is a citizen of a state other than
Delaware or California.

16.  Amount in Controversy. Without conceding that Plaintiff can prove his

claims or that he can properly represent the putative class, Sonos avers, for purpose of
this Notice only, that Plaintiff’s claims place more than $5 million in controversy. “The

amount in controversy is simply an estimate of the total amount in dispute, not a
4
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prospective assessment of [the] defendant’s liability.” Lewis v. Verizon Commc’ns, Inc.,
627 F.3d 395, 400 (9th Cir. 2010) (on removal, defendant does not “concede liability for
the entire amount” alleged in complaint). As the U.S. Supreme Court has held, a
defendant’s notice of removal need only include a plausible allegation that the amount
in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional threshold. Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co.
v. Owens, 135 S. Ct. 547, 549, 554 (2014). Moreover, the Ninth Circuit has instructed
that removal is proper if, from the allegations of the complaint and the notice of
removal, it is more likely than not that the amount in controversy exceeds $5 million.
Rodriguez v. AT&T Mobility Servs., Inc., 728 F.3d 975, 981 (9th Cir. 2013) (overturning
previous Ninth Circuit precedent requiring proof of amount in controversy to a “legal
certainty” under some circumstances). This standard is satisfied here, and the amount in
controversy exceeds $5 million.

17.  As an initial matter, Plaintiff acknowledged in his complaint in Steiner |
that “the amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.”
Steiner I, Dkt. 1 § 4. A statement made in an earlier pleading is admissible evidence as
an admission by an opposing party. Huey v. Honeywell, Inc., 82 F.3d 327, 333 (9th Cir.
1996).

18.  On behalf of a putative class, Plaintiff seeks to recover, among other things:
(1) restitution or actual damages to Plaintiff and class members; (2) trebled damages; (3)
punitive damages; and (4) injunctive and declaratory relief. Steiner Il Complaint
117-124. Plaintiff alleges that as a result of Sonos’s intentional conduct, “thousands of
[Sonos controllers] throughout the United States simultaneously failed.” Id.  21.
Plaintiff alleges that Sonos “wrongfully and intentionally interfered with Plaintiff’s and
Class members’ ownership, possession, and use of their [controllers], by programming,
distributing, and remotely activating a software update that disabled [the controllers]
and rendered [them] unusable.” 1d. 1 108. Plaintiff also alleges that “[t]he purpose of
Sonos’ update was to . . . induce more consumers to buy newer and higher-priced Sonos

products. Id. Y 26.
5
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19.  Even putting aside Plaintiff’s admission that the amount in controversy
exceeds $5 million, the above allegations demonstrate that the amount in controversy
standard is met. When considering that Plaintiff also asserts claims for his attorneys’
fees under the CLRA, punitive damages, and injunctive relief, it is even more apparent
that Plaintiff’s claims in this case place more than $5 million in controversy. See
Fritsch v. Swift Transportation Co. of Arizona, LLC, 899 F.3d 785, 794 (9th Cir. 2018)
(court must include attorneys’ fees recoverable by statute or contract when assessing
whether amount-in-controversy requirement under CAFA is met). Accordingly, the
amount in controversy requirement is satisfied. See Guglielmino v. McKee Foods Corp.,
506 F.3d 696, 700-01 (9th Cir. 2007) (remand denied under preponderance of the
evidence standard where defendant’s conservative estimates exceeded the requisite
amount).

20.  There are no grounds that would justify this Court in declining to exercise
its jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(3) or that would require it to decline to
exercise jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(4).

VENUE

21.  The United States District Court for the Central District of California is the
judicial district embracing the place where this action was filed by Plaintiff and thus is
the appropriate court for removal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a).

CONCLUSION
WHEREFORE, Sonos requests that the above action now pending against it in

the Superior Court, County of Los Angeles, be removed to this Court.

Dated: July 22, 2019 AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUER &
FELD LLP
NEAL ROSS MARDER
HYONGSOON KIM
JOSHUAA. RUBIN

By /s/ Neal R. Marder
Neal R. Marder
Attorneys for Defendant SONQOS, INC.
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DECLARATION OF NEAL R. MARDER
I, Neal R. Marder, declare as follows:

1. | am a partner with the law firm of Akin Gump Strauss Hauer and Feld,
LLP, counsel of record for Defendant Sonos, Inc. (“Sonos”) in the above-captioned
matter. Except as otherwise stated, | have personal knowledge of the facts set forth in
this declaration and, if called upon as a witness, could and would testify competently
regarding these facts under oath.

2. I make this declaration in support of Sonos’s Notice of Removal and
related filings.

3. On information and belief, Sonos was served by Plaintiff in this matter
with the following documents on June 25, 2019: Summons and Complaint, Civil Cover
Sheet and Addendum, and Notice of Case Assignment. True and correct copies of these
documents are attached hereto as Exhibit A. On information and belief, no other
documents have been filed or served by Plaintiff in this action.

4, Sonos’s Notice of Removal is timely because it is filed within 30 days of
Sonos being served in this action. Moreover, even if Sonos had been served the day the
case was filed (June 21, 2019), the Notice of Removal would be timely because it was
filed within 30 days of June 21, 2019, taking into account the federal rule that if a
deadline falls on a weekend it is extended to the next weekday. Fed. R. Civ. Proc.
6(a)(1)(C).

On July 19, 2019, | met and conferred with Plaintiff’s counsel, Todd Friedman,
regarding Sonos’s deadline for a responsive pleading. During this discussion, the
parties agreed that Sonos’s responsive pleading would be due thirty days after the date
of Sonos’s notice of removal. Following this conversation, Mr. Friedman asked me by
email message for the basis of Sonos’s anticipated removal. | informed him that Sonos
would be removing both under “arising under” federal question jurisdiction and

diversity jurisdiction based on the Class Action Fairness Act.
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| declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America

that the foregoing is true and correct and was executed this 22nd day of July, 2019.

/s/Neal R. Marder
Neal R. Marder
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

COURTHOUSE ADDRESS:

Spring Street Courthouse
312 North Spring Street, Los Angeles, CA 90012

NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT

FILED
Supariar Court of Califarnia
County of Los Angales
06/21/2019

Shearm Bl Cartar, Emacufwa O ficar ! Oak af Caur

Reserved for Clerk’s File Stamp

By 0 EESRARVV Lieputy
UNLIMITED CIVIL CASE
CASE NUMBER:
Your case is assigned for all purposes to the judicial officer indicated below. | 19STCV21795
THIS FORM IS TO BE SERVED WITH THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT
ASSIGNED JUDGE DEPT | ROOM ASSIGNED JUDGE DEPT | ROOM
[0 |Maren Nelson 17

Given to the Plaintiff/Cross-Complainant/Attorney of Record  Sherri R. Carter, Executive Officer / Clerk of Court

on 06/21/2019
(Date)

By Isaac Lovo

, Deputy Clerk

LACIV 190 (Rev 6/18) NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT — UNLIMITED CIVIL CASExhibitA, Page 28

LASC Approved 05/06
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR HANDL ING UNLIMITED CIVIL CASES

The following critical provisions of the California Rules of Court, Title 3, Division 7, as applicable in the Superior Court, are summarized
for your assistance.

APPLICATION
The Division 7 Rules were effective January 1, 2007. They apply to all general civil cases.

PRIORITY OVER OTHER RULES
The Division 7 Rules shall have priority over all other Local Rules to the extent the others are inconsistent.

CHALLENGE TO ASSIGNED JUDGE
A challenge under Code of Civil Procedure Section 170.6 must be made within 15 days after notice of assignment for all purposes
to a judge, or if a party has not yet appeared, within 15 days of the first appearance.

TIME STANDARDS
Cases assigned to the Independent Calendaring Courts will be subject to processing under the following time standards:

COMPLAINTS
All complaints shall be served within 60 days of filing and proof of service shall be filed within 90 days.

CROSS-COMPLAINTS
Without leave of court first being obtained, no cross-complaint may be filed by any party after their answer is filed. Cross-
complaints shall be served within 30 days of the filing date and a proof of service filed within 60 days of the filing date.

STATUS CONFERENCE

A status conference will be scheduled by the assigned Independent Calendar Judge no later than 270 days after the filing of the
complaint. Counsel must be fully prepared to discuss the following issues: alternative dispute resolution, bifurcation, settlement,
trial date, and expert witnesses.

FINAL STATUS CONFERENCE

The Court will require the parties to attend a final status conference not more than 10 days before the scheduled trial date. All
parties shall have motions in limine, bifurcation motions, statements of major evidentiary issues, dispositive motions, requested
form jury instructions, special jury instructions, and special jury verdicts timely filed and served prior to the conference. These
matters may be heard and resolved at this conference. At least five days before this conference, counsel must also have exchanged
lists of exhibits and witnesses, and have submitted to the court a brief statement of the case to be read to the jury panel as required
by Chapter Three of the Los Angeles Superior Court Rules.

SANCTIONS

The court will impose appropriate sanctions for the failure or refusal to comply with Chapter Three Rules, orders made by the
Court, and time standards or deadlines established by the Court or by the Chapter Three Rules. Such sanctions may be on a party,
or if appropriate, on counsel for a party.

This is not a complete delineation of the Division 7 or Chapter Three Rules, and adherence only to the above provisions is
therefore not a guarantee against the imposition of sanctions under Trial Court Delay Reduction. Careful reading and
compliance with the actual Chapter Rules is imperative.

Class Actions

Pursuant to Local Rule 2.3, all class actions shall be filed at the Stanley Mosk Courthouse and are randomly assigned to a complex
judge at the designated complex courthouse. If the case is found not to be a class action it will be returned to an Independent
Calendar Courtroom for all purposes.

*Provisionally Complex Cases

Cases filed as provisionally complex are initially assigned to the Supervising Judge of complex litigation for determination of
complex status. If the case is deemed to be complex within the meaning of California Rules of Court 3.400 et seq., it will be
randomly assigned to a complex judge at the designated complex courthouse. If the case is found not to be complex, it will be
returned to an Independent Calendar Courtroom for all purposes.

LACIV 190 (Rev 6/18) NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT — UNLIMITED CIVIL CASExhibitA, Page 29
LASC Approved 05/06
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NEAL ROSS MARDER (SBN 126879)
JOSHUA A. RUBIN (SBN 308421
AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUE
1999 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 600
Los Angeles, CA 90067-6022
Telephone:  310.229.1000
Facsimile:  310.229.1001

HYONGSOON KIM (SBN 25701

& FELD LLP

AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUER)& FELD LLP

4 Park Plaza, Suite 1900
Irvine, CA 92614-2585
Telephone:  949.885.4100
Facsimile:  949.885.4101

Attorneys for Defendant SONQOS, INC.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MATTHEW STEINER, individually,
and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,
Plaintiffs,
V.

SONOS, INC., and DOES 1-10,
inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No. 2:19-cv-6289

DEFENDANT SONQOS, INC.’S
REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL
NOTICE IN SUPPORT OF NOTICE
OF REMOVAL

Notice of Removal, Declaration of
eal R. Marder, Civil Cover Sheet,
Certification and Notice of Interested
Parties, Notice of Related Case, and
Notice of Pendency of Other Actions

filed concurrently]

&Supenor Court of California, Los
ngeles County, Case No.

19 TCV21795 Assigned to Hon.
Maren Nelson)

Date Action Filed: June 21, 2019
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REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE
Pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 201, Defendant Sonos, Inc. (“Sonos™)

respectfully requests that the Court take judicial notice of the contents the following
documents:

1. The Complaint in the action Matthew Steiner v. Sonos, Inc., C.D. Cal. Case
No. 2:19-cv-04719-PA-MAA, attached hereto as Exhibit A.

2. Sonos, Inc.’s Statement of Information filed with the California Secretary
of State on June 18, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit B.

The Court should take judicial notice of these documents as they are capable of
accurate and ready determination by resort to public records whose accuracy cannot be
reasonably questioned. See Fed. R. Evid. 201(b); Mack v. South Bay Beer Distribs.,
Inc., 798 F.2d 1279, 1282 (9th Cir. 1986) (finding courts may properly look to matters
of public record) (abrogated on other grounds in Astoria Fed. Sav. & LoanAss’n v.
Solimino, 501 U.S. 104, 107 (1991)).

Exhibit A is a pleading filed in a prior case in this Court. Courts routinely take
judicial notice of prior court filings. Reyn’s Pasta Bella, LLC v. Visa USA, Inc., 442
F.3d 741, 746 n.6 (9th Cir. 2006) (“We may take judicial notice of court filings and
other matters of public record.”); Asberry v. Money Store, No. 2:18-CV-01291-ODW
(PLAX), 2018 WL 3807806, at *1 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 8, 2018) (“Public court filings are not
typically subject to dispute, and thus are generally proper matters to judicially notice.”).
Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy
Iy

2
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Exhibit B is a public document filed with the California Secretary of State. These
types of public filings are subject to judicial notice. Fox Hollow of Turlock Owner's
Ass’n v. Sinclair, No. 1:03-CV-5439 AWI SAB, 2013 WL 1628260, at *2 (E.D. Cal.
Apr. 15, 2013) (taking judicial notice of corporate document filed with Secretary of
State).

Dated: July 22, 2019 AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUER &
FELD LLP
NEAL ROSS MARDER
JOSHUA A. RUBIN
HYONGSOON KIM

By Neal R. Marder
Neal R. Marder
Attorneys for Defendant SONQOS, INC.

3
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Todd M. Friedman (SBN 216752)

Adrian R. Bacon (SBN 280332)

Kelsey L. Kuberka (SBN 321619)

LAW OFFICES OF TODD M. FRIEDMAN, P.C.
21550 Oxnard St. Suite 780,

Woodland Hills, CA 91367

Phone: 323-306-4234

Fax: 866-633-0228

tfriedman@toddflaw.com

abacon@toddflaw.com

kkuberka@toddflaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MATTHEW STEINER, individually, |
and on behalf of all othérs similarly = | ~2%° N0

situated, CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, (1) Violation of Unfair Business
Practices Act (Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Vs. Code $§ 17200 et seq.)

2) Violation of California Consumer
SONOS, INC., and DOES 1-10, = Legal Remedies Act (Cal. Civ.

inclusive, Code §§ 1750 et seq.);

(3) Violation of the sz'r}puter Fraud
Defendant. and Abuse Act (I8 U.S.C. § 1030,
et seq.);

(4) Violgti)on of the California
Computer Crime Law (Cal. Penal
Code § 502);

5; Trespass to Chattels; and
6) Conversion

Jury Trial Demanded
Plaintiff MATTHEW STEINER (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of

all other members of the public similarly situated, allege as follows:
NATURE OF THE ACTION
1. On or around June, 2018, thousands of Sonos CR100 Controllers in

homes and small offices across the country failed. These failures resulted from

SONOS, INC. implementing a software update that CR100 Controllers purchased

1
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Exhibit A, Page 5
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prior to June, 2018. The failed Sonos CR100 Controllers displayed an error
message that services were unavailable and directed consumers to
“www.sonos.com/cr100”. Sonos devised and executed its software update as a
means of gaining an advantage over its competition in the market by rendering the
devices inoperable and forcing consumers to purchase replacement devices. Sonos
did not announce its software update would render the Sonos CR100 Controllers
inoperable to consumers, and consumers did not anticipate it. With its update,
Sonos acted by force to limit consumer choice instead of competing lawfully,
based upon the quality and servicing of its devices.

2.  Sonos was aware of consumers' reasonable expectation that Sonos
CR100 Controllers would continue to operate using current and/or updated
software, regardless of the age of functioning hardware. Sonos recognized and
reinforced this expectation. Consumers relied on and expected to use functioning
hardware. The non-updated devices worked as expected until Sonos' software
update. Sonos never disclosed to its customers that it could or would render their
devices inoperable.

3.  Sonos' unfair methods of competition and deceptive trade practices
harmed people who own its CR100 Controllers. Plaintiff seeks an injunction
prohibiting Sonos from hijacking their devices again, and appropriate recovery for
himself and the other owners of Sonos devices affected by the software update.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under the
Class Action Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), because (a) at least one
member of the Class is a citizen of a state different from Sonos, (b) the amount in
controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs, (c) the Class
includes more than 100 members, and (d) none of the exceptions under the

subsection apply to this action.

2
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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5.  Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a
substantial part of the events or omissions that give rise to Plaintiff's claims

occurred here.
THE PARTIES

6.  Plaintiff MATTHEW STEINER (hereinafter, “Plaintiff”) is a citizen
and resident of the State of California, County of Los Angeles.

7 Defendant Sonos, Inc. (hereinafter, “Defendant”) is a Delaware
corporation, duly authorized and conducting business in California.

8. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that each and
all of the acts and omissions alleged herein were performed by, or is attributable
to, Defendant and/or its employees, agents, and/or third parties acting on its behalf,
each acting as the agent for the other, with legal authority to act on the other’s
behalf. The acts of any and all of Defendant’s employees, agents, and/or third
parties acting on its behalf, were in accordance with, and represent, the official
policy of Defendant.

9. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that said
Defendant is in some manner intentionally, negligently, or otherwise responsible
for the acts, omissions, occurrences, and transactions of each and all its employees,
agents, and/or third parties acting on its behalf, in proximately causing the
damages herein alleged.

10. At all relevant times, Defendant ratified each and every act or
omission complained of herein. At all relevant times, Defendant, aided and
abetted the acts and omissions as alleged herein.

11.  The above named Defendant, and its subsidiaries and agents, are
collectively referred to as “Defendants.” The true names and capacities of the
Defendants sued herein as DOE DEFENDANTS 1 through 10, inclusive, are

currently unknown to Plaintiff, who therefore sues such Defendants by fictitious

3
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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names. Each of the Defendants designated herein as a DOE is legally responsible
for the unlawful acts alleged herein. Plaintiff will seek leave of Court to amend
the Complaint to reflect the true names and capacities of the DOE Defendants
when such identities become known.

INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

12.  Assignment to the Western Division is proper under Local Rule 23-
2.2(f) because a substantial part of the conduct at issue in this case occurred in Los
Angeles County.

NATURE OF THE CASE & COMMON ALLEGATIONS OF FACT

13. Prior to June, 2018, Plaintiff purchased two (2) Sonos CRI100
Controllers. Those devices continued functioning up until June, 2018.

14. On or around June, 2018, his Sonos CR100 Controllers unexpectedly
failed; they stopped connecting to personal sound devices.

15. Sonos caused this failure by disabling his CR100 Controllers.

16. Immediately after his devices failed, the screens displayed a message
directing him to “www.sonos.com/cr100”. A link to a website accompanied this
message. He clicked on the link on his device's screen. The link was to an Sonos
website stating the device would no longer be supported in future updates.

17. Plaintiff’s devices’ inoperability caused him to expend time and
money.

18.  When Plaintiff bought his Sonos CR100 Controllers, he relied on the
ability to use the device and software during the lifespan of the devices. Had he
known that Sonos would prevent him from doing that, he would not have bought
a Sonos CR100 Controller, or he would have paid significantly less for it.

19. Sonos obtains substantial profits from its sales of newer model
devices.

20. Because the Class Devices connect to the Internet, Sonos can

4
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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communicate with Sonos devices after it sells them. One way to communicate with
devices is by updating their software.

21. On or around June, 2018, thousands of Class Devices throughout the
United States simultaneously failed.

22. But these failures did not result from any problem or error with the
hardware in the Class Devices. Despite Sonos' error message, these devices were
not damaged.

23. Sonos' deployment of these software “updates” has disrupted the use
and enjoyment of consumers’ devices, by systematically disabling technology
lawfully purchased by consumers. These firmware updates rendered otherwise-
functioning products obsolete with the click of a button. These updates harmed
consumers, causing consumers to repurchase Sonos products.

24. Sonos purposely caused Class Devices to fail.

25.  The failure of Class Devices resulted from code that Sonos wrote and
installed on consumers’ devices.

26. The purpose of Sonos' update was to disable Sonos Devices
purchased prior to June 2016. By doing so, Sonos sought to induce more
consumers to buy newer and higher-priced Sonos products.

27. Consumers rely on the representations and advertisements of
manufacturers in order to know which products to purchase. Price and features
are important and material to consumers at the time they purchase a particular
device.

28. Defendant’s violations of the law include, but not limited to, the false
advertising, marketing, representations, and sale of the falsely advertised Class
Products to consumers in California.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
29.  Plaintiff brings this action under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23

5
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
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on behalf of the following Class (the “Class”):

All consumers who purchased, or otherwise own, a

Sonos CR100 Controller.

30. As used herein, the term “Class Members” shall mean and refer to the
members of the Class described above.

31. Excluded from the Class is Defendant, its affiliates, employees,
agents, and attorneys, and the Court.

32. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the Class, and to add additional
subclasses, if discovery and further investigation reveals such action is warranted.

33. The requirements of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a), (b)(1),
(b)(2), and (b)(3) are met in this case.

34, Numerosity. Upon information and belief, the proposed class is
composed of thousands of persons. The members of the class are so numerous
that joinder of all members would be unfeasible and impractical.

35. Commonality and Predominance. No violations alleged in this
complaint are contingent on any individualized interaction of any kind between
Class members and Defendant.

36. Rather, all claims in this matter arise from the identical, false,
affirmative representations of the services, when in fact, such representations were
false.

37. There are common questions of law and fact as to the Class Members
that predominate over questions affecting only individual members, including but
not limited to:

a. Whether Sonos' acts and practices constitute unfair
methods of competition;
b. Whether Sonos engaged in unfair acts or practices in the

conduct of trade;

6
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c. Sonos' motives for devising and executing its forced
modification of Class Devices;

d. Whether and to what extent Sonos profited both from the
initial sale of Class Devices and from the consequences
of Sonos' forced modification;

e. Whether Sonos engaged in deceptive business practices
in the aftermarket and when forcibly modifying
Plaintiff's and Class members' devices;

f. Whether Sonos violated Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§
17200, et seq., Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500, et seq.,
and Cal. Civ. Code §§ 1750, et seq.;

g. Whether Sonos violated the Consumer Fraud and Abuse
Act and the California Computer Crime Law;

h. Whether Sonos' conduct constitutes trespass to chattels
and/or conversion;

i. Whether Plaintiffs and Class members are entitled to
equitable relief;

j. Whether Sonos’ unlawful, unfair, and deceptive
practices harmed Plaintiffs and Class members;

k. Whether Sonos' conduct is substantially injurious to
owners of its products;

. The method of calculation and extent of damages for
Plaintiffs and Class members; and

m. Whether Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to
restitution and, if so, in what amount.

38. Typicality. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the Class.

Plaintiff, like all Class members, purchased Class Devices that Sonos unilaterally

7
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disabled and rendered inoperable. Each Class member's claims arise from the same
tortious conduct of Sonos. All Class members were exposed to the same
misrepresentations and omissions.

39. Adequacy. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of
the Class. Plaintiff's interests do not conflict with the interests of Class members,
and he has retained counsel experienced in prosecuting class action and consumer
protection litigation.

40. In addition to satisfying the prerequisites of Rule 23(a), Plaintiff
satisfies the requirements for maintaining a class action under Rule 23(b)(3).

41. Superiority. A class action is superior to individual adjudications of
this controversy. Litigation is not economically feasible for individual Class
members because the amount of monetary relief available to individual plaintiffs
is insufficient in the absence of the class action procedure. Separate litigation
could yield inconsistent or contradictory judgments, and increase the delay and
expense to all parties and the court system. A class action presents fewer
management difficulties and provides the benefits of a single adjudication,
economy of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a single court. The damage
claims of Class members can be readily managed given the uniform claim
elements and similar types of harm at issue.

42. Class certification also is appropriate under Rule 23(b)(1) or (b)(2)
because:

a. the prosecution of separate actions by individual Class
members would create a risk of inconsistent or varying
adjudications which would establish incompatible standards of
conduct for Sonos;

b.  the prosecution of separate actions by individual Class
members would create a risk of adjudication of their rights that,

8
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as a practical matter, would be dispositive of the interests of
other Class members not parties to such adjudications or would
substantially impair or impede other Class members' ability to
protect their interests; and
c Sonos has acted and refused to act on grounds that apply
generally to the Injunctive Relief Class such that final
injunctive relief or declaratory relief is warranted with respect
to that Class as a whole.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Unfair Business Practices Act
(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq.)
43. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above.
44. Actions for relief under the unfair competition law may be based on
any business act or practice that is within the broad definition of the UCL. Such
violations of the UCL occur as a result of unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business
acts and practices. A plaintiff is required to provide evidence of a causal
connection between a defendants' business practices and the alleged harm--that is,
evidence that the defendants' conduct caused or was likely to cause substantial
injury. It is insufficient for a plaintiff to show merely that the Defendant’s conduct
created a risk of harm. Furthermore, the "act or practice" aspect of the statutory
definition of unfair competition covers any single act of misconduct, as well as
ongoing misconduct.
UNFAIR
45. California Business & Professions Code § 17200 prohibits any
“unfair . . . business act or practice.” Defendant’s acts, omissions,
misrepresentations, and practices as alleged herein also constitute “unfair”

business acts and practices within the meaning of the UCL in that its conduct is

9
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substantially injurious to consumers, offends public policy, and is immoral,
unethical, oppressive, criminal, and unscrupulous as the gravity of the conduct
outweighs any alleged benefits attributable to such conduct. There were
reasonably available alternatives to further Defendant’s legitimate business
interests, other than the conduct described herein. Plaintiff reserves the right to
allege further conduct which constitutes other unfair business acts or practices.
Such conduct is ongoing and continues to this date.

46. In order to satisfy the “unfair” prong of the UCL, a consumer must
show that the injury: (1) is substantial; (2) is not outweighed by any countervailing
benefits to consumers or competition; and, (3) is not one that consumers
themselves could reasonably have avoided.

47. Here, Defendant’s conduct has caused and continues to cause
substantial injury to Plaintiff and members of the Class. Plaintiff and members of
the Class have suffered injury in fact due to Defendant’s decision to forcibly
modifying Plaintiff's and Class members' devices. Thus, Defendant’s conduct has
caused substantial injury to Plaintiff and the members of the Class.

48. Moreover, Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein solely benefits
Defendant while providing no benefit of any kind to any consumer. Such practices
utilized by Defendant rendered Plaintiff and members of the Class’s property non-
functioning, in order to induce them to spend money on Defendant’s Products. In
fact, knowing that Class Products would be rendered non-functioning and thus
force Plaintiff and Class Members to purchase newer devices at higher prices,
Defendant unfairly profited from their practices. Thus, the injury suffered by
Plaintiff and the members of the Class is not outweighed by any countervailing
benefits to consumers.

49. Finally, the injury suffered by Plaintiff and members of the Class is

not an injury that these consumers could reasonably have avoided. Plaintiff and

10
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class members’ Class Devices were functioning prior to Defendant forcibly
modifying Plaintiffs and Class members' devices. Defendant failed to take
reasonable steps to inform Plaintiff and class members that the Class Products
were forcibly modified. As such, Defendant took advantage of Defendant’s
position to coerce Plaintiff and the Class members to purchase Defendant’s newer
and more expensive products. Therefore, the injury suffered by Plaintiff and
members of the Class is not an injury which these consumers could reasonably
have avoided.

50. Thus, Defendant’s conduct has violated the “unfair” prong of
California Business & Professions Code § 17200.

FRAUDULENT

51. California Business & Professions Code § 17200 prohibits any
“fraudulent ... business act or practice.” In order to prevail under the “fraudulent”
prong of the UCL, a consumer must allege that the fraudulent business practice
was likely to deceive members of the public.

52. The test for “fraud” as contemplated by California Business and
Professions Code § 17200 is whether the public is likely to be deceived. Unlike
common law fraud, a § 17200 violation can be established even if no one was
actually deceived, relied upon the fraudulent practice, or sustained any damage.

53. Here, not only were Plaintiff and the Class members likely to be
deceived, but these consumers were actually deceived by Defendant. Such
deception is evidenced by the fact that Plaintiff installed Defendant’s “software
update” under the basic assumption that their products would continue to function
and Defendant would not render these devices non-functioning. Plaintiff’s reliance
upon Defendant’s omission is reasonable due to the unequal bargaining powers of
Defendant and Plaintiff. For the same reason, it is likely that Defendant’s

fraudulent business practice would deceive other members of the public.
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54. As explained above, Defendant deceived Plaintiff and other Class
Members by representing the software changes were “updates” not rendering the
Class Products as being non-functioning.

55. Thus, Defendant’s conduct has violated the “fraudulent” prong of
California Business & Professions Code § 17200.

UNLAWFUL

56. California Business and Professions Code Section 17200, et seq.
prohibits “any unlawful...business act or practice.”

57. As explained above, Defendant deceived Plaintiff and other Class
Members by omitting that the “update” would forcibly modify Plaintiff's and Class
members' devices. '

58. Defendémt used force and coercion to induce Plaintiff and Class
Members to “update” the Class Products, in violation of the Computer Fraud and
Abuse Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1030, et seq., and the California Computer Crime Law,
Cal. Penal Code § 502. Had Defendant not forcibly modifying Plaintiff's and Class
members' Class Products, Plaintiff and Class Members’ devices would still
function. Defendant’s conduct therefore caused and continues to cause economic
harm to Plaintiff and Class Members.

59. These representations by Defendant is therefore an “unlawful”
business practice or act under Business and Professions Code Section 17200 et
seq.

60. Defendant has thus engaged in unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent
business acts entitling Plaintiff and Class Members to judgment and equitable
relief against Defendant, as set forth in the Prayer for Relief. Additionally,
pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 17203, Plaintiff and Class
Members seek an order requiring Defendant to immediately cease such acts of

unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business practices and requiring Defendant to
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correct its actions.
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of Consumer Legal Remedies Act
(Cal. Civ. Code § 1750 et seq.)

61. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above
herein.

62. Defendant’s actions as detailed above constitute a violation of the
Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code §1770 to the extent that Defendant
violated the following provisions of the CLRA:

a. Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval,
characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do
not have or that a person has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation,
or connection which he or she does not have. Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(5);

b. Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard,
quality, or grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they
are of another. Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(7);

c. Representing that a transaction confers or involves rights, remedies, or
obligations which it does not have or involve, or which are prohibited
by law; Cal. Civ. Code §1770(14); and

d. Representing that the subject of a transaction has been supplied in
accordance with a previous representation when it has not; Cal. Civ.
Code §1770(16);

63. On or about April 17, 2019, through his Counsel of record, using
certified mail with a return receipt requested, Plaintiff served Defendant with
notice of its violations of the CLRA, and asked that Defendant correct, repair,
replace or otherwise rectify the goods and services alleged to be in violation of the

CLRA; this correspondence advised Defendant that they must take such action
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within thirty (30) calendar days, and pointed Defendant to the provisions of the
CLRA that Plaintiff believes to have been violated by Defendant. Defendant gas
not replied to this correspondence, and have thereby refused to timely correct,
repair, replace or otherwise rectify the issues raised therein.
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1030, et seq.
(On Behalf of the Class)

64. Plaintiff incorporates the above allegations by reference.

65. The Consumer Fraud and Abuse Act (“CFAA”) establishes a private
cause of action against a person who “knowingly accessed a computer without
authorization or exceeding authorized access,” and whose prohibited access results
in damage or loss in excess of $5,000. 18 U.S.C. § 1030(g) (referencing §
1030(c)(4)(A)(i)(1)); see also § 1030(a).

66. The CFAA establishes liability against whomever:

a. “knowingly causes the transmission of a program, information,
code, or command, and as a result of such conduct,
intentionally causes damage without authorization, to a
protected computer” (§ 1030(a)(5)(A));

b. “intentionally accesses a protected computer without
authorization, and as a result of such conduct, recklessly causes
damage” (§ 1030(a)(5)(B)); or

c. “intentionally accesses a protected computer without
authorization, and as a result of such conduct, causes damage
and loss” (§ 1030(a)(5)(C)).

67. The term “computer” means “an electronic, magnetic, optical,
electrochemical, or other high speed data processing device performing logical,

arithmetic, or storage functions, and includes any data storage facility or
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communications facility directly related to or operating in conjunction with such
device[.]” 18 U.S.C. § 1030(e)(1).

68. A “protected computer” is defined, in relevant part, as a computer
“which is used in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce or communication.”
18 U.S.C. § 1030(e)(2)(B).

69. “[E]xceeds authorized access” means “access[ing] a computer with
authorization and ... us[ing] such access to obtain or alter information in the
computer that the accesser is not entitled so to obtain or alter.” 18 U.S.C. §
1030(e)(6).

70. “Loss” means “any reasonable cost to any victim, including the cost
of responding to an offense, conducting a damage assessment, and restoring the
data, program, system, or information to its condition prior to the offense, and any
revenue lost, cost incurred, or other consequential damages incurred because of
interruption of service.” 18 U.S.C. § 1030(e)(11).

71. Damage means “any impairment to the integrity or availability of
data, a program, a system, or information.” 18 U.S.C. § 1030(e)(8).

72. Class Devices are “computers” under the CFAA by virtue of their
data processing and communication functions and their operation in conjunction
with Plaintiffs' and Class members' laptop or desktop computers.

73. Class Devices are “protected computers” under the CFAA because
they are used in and affect interstate and foreign commerce and communication,
including through contact and communication with remote servers and through
personal and business usages that affect interstate and foreign commerce.

74.  Sonos knowingly and intentionally exceeded its authorized access to
Plaintiff's and Class members' devices. Plaintiff and Class members did not
consent to Sonos' invasive software update.

75. By exceeding its authorized access, Sonos obtained and altered Class
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Devices' information, functions, and data. These communications resulted from a
single act in the form of Sonos' activation of its software update.

76. By implementing its software update, Sonos knowingly caused the
transmission of “a program, information, code, or command ... to a protected
computer” and, as a result of that conduct, intentionally caused damage in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(5)(A).

77. By implementing its software update, Sonos intentionally accessed
Class Devices without authorization, and as a result of that conduct, caused or
recklessly caused damage or loss to those protected computers, in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 1030(a)(5)(B) and (a)(5)(C).

78. Sonos' software implementation was a single act by which Sonos
intentionally accessed Plaintiff's and Class members' protected computers without
authorization and by exceeding authorization. As a direct and proximate result of
Sonos' CFAA violations, Sonos caused damages and loss to Plaintiff and Class
members during a one-year period that exceed $5,000 in value.

79. Sonos' software implementation caused damage and loss to Plaintiff
and Class members, including by disabling Class Devices, eliminating or
impairing Plaintiff's and Class members' use of those devices, depriving Plaintiff
and Class members of the ability to use their property, causing Plaintiff and Class
members to expend money, time, and labor to investigate and try to fix their
disabled devices, and decreasing the value of the Class Devices.

80. Based on Sonos' violation of the CFAA, Plaintiff and Class members

seek recovery of economic damages and all other relief provided for under 18

U.S.C. § 1030(g).

I
I
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of the California Computer Crime Law, Cal. Penal Code § 502
(On Behalf of the Class)

81. Plaintiff incorporates the above allegations by reference.

82. The California Computer Crime Law prohibits knowing and
unauthorized access to computers, computer networks, and computer systems.

83. Class Devices are “computers” and part of a “computer network™ or
“computer system” under this statute. While the statute does not define
“computer,” it defines “computer network” as “any system that provides
communications between one or more computer systems and input/output devices,
including, but not limited to, display terminals, remote systems, mobile devices,
and printers connected by telecommunication facilities.” Penal Code § 502(b)(2).
“Computer system” is defined, in relevant part, as a “device or collection of
devices, including support devices ... one or more of which contain computer
programs, electronic instructions, input data, and output data, that performs
functions, including, but not limited to, logic, arithmetic, data storage and
retrieval, communication, and control.” Penal Code § 502(b)(5).

84. Sonos' software update is a “computer program or software” and
“computer contaminant” under Penal Code §§ 502(b)(3) and (12).

85. Sonos had “access” to Plaintiff's and Class members' computers,
computer systems, and computer networks under Penal Code § 502(b)(1) when it
implemented its remote software update.

86. Sonos implemented this software update knowingly and without
permission from Plaintiff and Class members.

87.  Through its software update, Sonos obtained and interfered with
“data” from Class Devices under Penal Code § 502(b)(8).

88. Through Sonos' knowing implementation of its software update
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without Plaintiff's and Class members' permission, Sonos violated the California
Computer Crime Law in at least the following respects:

a. In violation of Penal Code §§ 502(c)(1)-(2), Sonos
altered and made use of Class Device data to devise and
execute a scheme or artifice to defraud, deceive, or
extort, and to wrongfully control or obtain money or
property. Among other components of this scheme,
Sonos' software update caused the Class Devices to
display false error messages.

b. Inviolation of Penal Code § 502(c)(3) — (4), Sonos used
or caused to be used computer services, and added,
altered, and damaged Class Devices' data, programs, or
software. |

c. By implementing its software update and disabling Class
Devices, Sonos caused the disruption and denial of
computer services to authorized users, such as Plaintiff
and Class members, in violation of Penal Code §
502(c)(5).

d. Sonos accessed or caused to be accessed Class Devices
and introduced thereon a computer contaminate—its
invasive firmware update—in violation of Penal Code §§
502(c)(7)-(8).

89. As an actual and proximate result of Sonos' conduct in violation of
the California Computer Crime Law, Plaintiff and Class members have been
damaged in an amount to be determined at trial. Under Penal Code §§ 502(e)(1)
and (2), Plaintiff and Class members are entitled to compensatory damages,

equitable relief, and reasonable attorneys' fees.
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Trespass to Chattels
(On Behalf of the Class)

90. Plaintiff incorporates the above allegations by reference.

91. Plaintiff and Class members owned, possessed, and used, and had a
right to possess and use, their Class Devices.

92. Sonos wrongfully and intentionally interfered with Plaintiff's and
Class members' ownership, possession, and use of their Class Devices, by
programming, distributing, and remotely activating a software update that disabled
Class Devices and rendered those Class Devices unusable.

93. Sonos' wrongful and intentional interference with Plaintiff's and Class
members' ownership, possession, and use of their Class Devices caused damage to
Plaintiff and Class members, including by preventing the Class Devices from
operating, by impairing the condition of these devices, by reducing the value of
these devices, and by depriving Plaintiff and Class members of the use of these
devices for a substantial period of time. A reasonable person would be willing to
pay significantly less for a Class Device if he or she knew that the device contained
or would be updated with software preventing the device from working.

94. Plaintiff and Class members are entitled to recover the amount by
which Sonos' software update harmed their possessory interests in Class Devices.
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
CONVERSION
(On Behalf of the Class)

95. Plaintiff incorporates the above allegations by reference.

96.  Conversion is any act of dominion wrongfully exerted over another's
personal property. There must exist an actual interference with one's ownership or
right of possession. Fisher v. Machado (1996) 50 Cal.App. 4th 1069,1073, 58
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Cal.Rptr. 2d 213; Weiss v. Marcus (1975) 51 Cal. App. 3d 590,599, 124 Cal.Rptr.
297.

97. Conversion is a strict liability tort. Burlesci v. Petersen (1998) 68
Cal.App. 4th 1062, 1065, 80 Cal.Rptr. 2d 704. Generally, the converted property
must be tangible. Thrifty- Tel, Inc. v. Bezenek 15 (1996) 46 Cal.App. 4th 1559, 54
Cal.Rptr.2d 468. A manual taking of the property is not necessary; it is only
necessary that there be an assumption of control or ownership over the property,
or that the converter has applied the property to his own use. Oakdale Village
Group v. Fong(1996) 43 Cal. App. 4th 539, 543-544, 50 Cal.Rptr.2d 810.

98. By reason of the aforesaid conduct, Defendant wrongfully exercised
dominion and control over Plaintiff's and Class Members’ property. Defendant
willfully interfered with the use and enjoyment of Plaintiff's and Class Members’
property and transferred the same to themselves by virtue of coercing Plaintiff and
Class Members to purchase replacement devices from Defendant.

99. As a direct and proximate result of the conversion of Plaintiff's and
Class Members’ property, Plaintiff and Class Members have sustained general and
special damages in an amount according to proof.

100. The conduct of Defendant was despicable, fraudulent, malicious,
oppressive and in reckless and/or conscious disregard to the rights of Plaintiff and
Class Members, entitling Plaintiff and Class Members to punitive and exemplary
damages in an amount sufficient to punish said Defendant and deter similar
wrongdoing by others.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Class, respectfully
request that this Court:

a. Certify this case as a class action under Federal Rule of

Civil Procedure 23, appoint Plaintiff as Class
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representative, and appoint the undersigned counsel as

Class counsel;

. Enter injunctive and declaratory relief as appropriate

under applicable law;

. Order restitution or actual damages to Plaintiff and Class

members;

. Award Plaintiff and Class members trebled damages

along with pre-and post-judgment interest, as prescribed

by law;

. Award punitive damages, as permitted by law, in an

amount to be determined by the jury or the Court;

. Order Sonos to provide notice to the Class of this action

and of the remedies entered by the Court;

. Award reasonable attorneys' fees and costs as permitted

by law; and

. Enter such other and further relief as may be just and

proper.
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial on all issues so triable.

Dated: May 30, 2019

Respectfully submitted,

LAW OFFICES OF TODD M. FRIEDMAN, PC

o L

TODD M. FRIEDMAN, ESQ.
Attorney for Plaintiff Matthew Steiner
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(California Stock, Agricultural
Cooperative and Foreign Corporations)
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IMPORTANT — Read instructions before completing this form,
Fees (Filing plus Disclosure) — $25.00;

Copy Fees — First page $1.00; each attachment page $0.50;
Certification Fee - $5.00 plus copy fees

Secretary of State
State of California

JUN 18 2018

1. Corporation Name (Enter the exact name of the corporation as it is recorded with the California
Secretary of State. Note: If you registered in California using an assumed name, see instructions.)

SONOS, INC.

2| Wl

This Space For Office Use Only

2. 7-Digit Secretary of State File Number

C2465272

3. Business Addresses

a. Street Address of Principal Executive Office - Do not list a P.O. Box

City (no abbreviations}) State Zip Code
614 CHAPALA STREET SANTA BARBARA CA | 93101
b, Mailing Address of Corporation, if different than item 3a City {no abbreviations) State Zip Code
c. Street Address of Principal California Office, if any and if different than ltem 3a - Do not list a P.O. Box City {no abbreviations) State Zip Code
CA

4. Officers The Corporation is required to list all three of the officers set forth

below. An additional title for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer may be added; however, the preprinted titles on this form must not be altered.

a. Chief Executive Officer/ First Name Middle Name Last Name Suffix
PATRICK SPENCE
Addross City (no abbreviations) “State | zip Code N
614 CHAPALA STREET SANTA BARBARA CA | 93101
b, Secretary First Name Middie Name Last Name Suffix
CRAIG SHELBURNE
- - A City {no abbreviations) ASlale _.Z&) Code ]
614 CHAPALA STREET SANTA BARBARA CA [93101
¢. Chief Financial Officer/ First Name Middle Name Last Name Suffix
MICHAE GIANETTO
Address City (no abbreviations) State Zip Code
2 AVENUE DE LAFAYETTE TON MA | 02111
5. Director(s) California Stock and Agricultural Cooperative Corporations ONLY: Item 5a: At least one name and address must be listed If the
‘ Corporation has additional directors, enter the name(s) and addresses on Form SI-550A (see instructions).
a. First Name Middle Name Last Name Suffix
Address B ) o City {no agt::evialions) -S—;ate Zip Cod_e: o =
b. Number of Vacancies on the Board of Directors, if any [ i
6. Service of Process (Must provide either Individual OR Carporation.)
INDIVIDUAL - Complete ltems 6a and 6b only. Mustinclude agent’s full name and California street address.
a. California Agent's First Name {if agent is not a corparation) Middie Name Last Name Suffix
b. Street Address (if agent is not a corporation) - Do not enter a P.O, Box City (no abbreviations) State Zip Code
: CA
CORPORATION - Complete Item ¢ only. Only include the name of the registered agent Corporanon
c¢. California Registered Corporate Agent's Name (if agent is a corporation) — Do not complete item 6a or C ‘u j
C T Corporation System
7. Type of Business
Describe the type of business or services of the Corporation
DESIGN/SALES OF HARDWARE/SOFTWARE
8. The Information contained herein, including in any attachments, is true and correct. DacuSigned by:
2018-06-15 Craig A. Shelburne Secretary [ ('/uws' A. Slllurne
Date Type or Print Name of Person Completing the Form Titie 95608 M EsD4ED .
$I-550 (REV 01/2017) 2017 California Secretary of State
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NEAL ROSS MARDER (SBN 126879)

JOSHUA A. RUBIN (SBN 308421
AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUE
1999 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 600
Los Angeles, CA 90067-6022
Telephone:  310.229.1000
Facsimile:  310.229.1001

HYONGSOON KIM (SBN 25701

& FELD LLP

AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUER)& FELD LLP

4 Park Plaza, Suite 1900
Irvine, CA 92614-2585
Telephone:  949.885.4100
Facsimile:  949.885.4101

Attorneys for Defendant SONQOS, INC.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MATTHEW STEINER, individually,

and on behalf of all others similarly
situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.

SONOS, INC., and DOES 1-10,
inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No. 2:19-cv-6289

DEFENDANT SONQOS, INC.’S
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE OF
ITS NOTICE OF REMOVAL AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS

XSuperlor Court of California, Los
ngeles County, Case No.

19 TCV21795 Assigned to Hon.
Maren Nelson)

Date Action Filed: June 21, 2019

DEFENDANT SONOS, INC.’S CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE OF ITS NOTICE OF REMOVAL AND SUPPORTING

DOCUMENTS
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

| am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California. | am over the
age of 18 and not a party to the within action; my business address is: 1999 Avenue of
the Stars, Suite 600, Los Angeles, California 90067. On July 22, 2019, | served the
foregoing documents described as follows:

1. DEFENDANT SONOS, INC.’S NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF ACTION
PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332(d)(2), 1441, 1446, AND 1453;

2. DECLARATION OF NEAL R. MARDER IN SUPPORT OF
DEFENDANT SONQOS, INC.”S NOTICE OF REMOVAL;

3. DEFENDANT SONOS, INC.’S REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE IN
SUPPORT OF NOTICE OF REMOVAL;

4. CIVIL COVER SHEET,

S. %EI}FFICATION AND NOTICE OF INTERESTED PARTIES [L.R.

6. DEFENDANT SONOS, INC.’S NOTICE OF RELATED CASE; AND

7. DEFENDANT SONOS, INC.’S NOTICE OF PENDENCY OF OTHER
ACTIONS.

on the interested parties below, using the following means:

Todd M. Friedman (SBN 216752)
Adrian R. Bacon (SBN 280332&
Kelsey L. Kuberka (SBN 321619)

LAW OFFICES OF TODD M. FRIEDMAN, P.C.
21550 Oxnard St., Suite 780
Woodland Hills, CA 91367

Phone; 323-306-4234
Fax: 866-633-0228

Email: tfriedman@toddflaw.com
Email: abacon@toddflaw.com
Email: kkuberka@toddflaw.com

XI BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY. | enclosed the documents in an envelope or package
provided by an overnight delivery carrier and addressed to the respective address of the
parties stated above. | placed the envelope or package for collection and overnight
delivery at an office or a regularly utilized drop box of the overnight delivery carrier.

X (FEDERAL) | declare that | am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this
court at whose direction the service was made.

Executed on July 22, 2019, at Los Angeles, California.
/] /- N y 7
Colleen R. Doubroff / //m . />,z v 4//
[Print Name of Person Executing Proof] [Siéﬁzﬁur‘é] ' ” //

1

DEFENDANT ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY’S CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE OF ITS NOTICE OF
REMOVAL AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS




ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this
post: Sonos Docked with Class Action After Forced Phase-Out of CR100 Speaker Controller



https://www.classaction.org/news/sonos-docked-with-class-action-after-forced-phase-out-of-cr100-speaker-controller

	2019-06-21 Notice of Case Assignment 4851-2124-4572 v.1.pdf
	NOTICE OF CASE ASSIGNMENT
	UNLIMITED CIVIL CASE
	ROOM
	DEPT
	ASSIGNED JUDGE
	ROOM




